Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency
Board Meeting Minutes
August 7, 2025

The Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency held its board meeting on Thursday, August 7,
2025 in the board room at 800 Starbuck Avenue, Watertown, NY.

Present: Robert E. Aliasso, Jr., W. Edward Walldroff, Paul Warneck, William Johnson, Lisa L’Huillier,
David Converse, John Condino

Excused: None

Absent: None

Also Present: Charles Capone, Rob Aiken, Dr. Dawn M. Robinson, Ryan Piche (Jefferson County
Administrator)

Zoom: Justin Miller, Esq. (Harris Beach), Craig Fox (Watertown Daily Times)

Staff Present: Marshall Weir, Jay Matteson, Peggy Sampson, Robin Stephenson

L

IL

IIL

IV.

Call to Order: Chairman Aliasso called the meeting to order at 8:24 a.m.
Privilege of the Floor: No one spoke.

Minutes: Minutes of the meeting held on July 10, 2025 were presented. A motion to approve the
minutes as presented was made by Mr. Converse, seconded by Ms. L’Huillier. All in favor.
Carried.

Treasurer’s Report: Mr. Warneck reviewed the financials for the period ending July 31, 2025.
He said that even if you take out the PILOT/Leaseback piece, there is no way that we will make
our projected revenues for this year. He said the balance sheet looks okay based on expectations.
He said it is a better-looking picture for our MICRO loan receivables because they are all making
monthly payments. A motion was made by Mr. Walldroff to accept the financial statement as
presented, seconded by Mr. Warneck.

Chairman Aliasso said he has a few quick updates, and one matter could be discussed in
executive session if needed.

LCO Destiny — Chairman Aliasso said the closing on the building for MetalCraft is attached to us
getting our balloon payment which may occur around August 11", and we should receive our
funds within this month barring any minor delays but noted there is no defect in the project and
no defect in the transaction; it is a matter of a lot line adjustment.

Convalt Energy — Chairman Aliasso said that our lawsuit attorney David Caprioti provided Mr.
Weir with an update this week that there is discourse going on with Convalt’s lawyer confirming
how much they owe, when they can pay and discussing the progress of how the payments are
going to come.

All in favor. Carried.



Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency
Board Meeting Minutes
August 7, 2025

Three Mile Bay Ventures (TMBV) —

Mr. Aiken asked if TMBYV still owes us money. Mr. Weir said yes and indicated that they are
behind. He said he had a discussion with KC Bennett about it. He said that Mr. Bennett plans to
get us potentially paid in full soon and it includes the loan. Mr. Warneck said a few months ago
we agreed to accept partial payment and asked Mr. Weir if he was aware of the big expansion.
Mr. Weir said no. He said he read it in the newspaper and that is why he reached out to them.

V. Committee Reports:

a.

Alternative Energy — Mr. Warneck mentioned that he shared the draft NYPA Renewables
Updated Strategic Plan with Mr. Matteson. He said that it includes them purchasing or co-
developing projects although it does not define co-developer. He said there are 6 projects in
Jefferson County on the list and indicated that it is something to watch, and noted that there is
a public hearing coming up. He said he doesn’t know who will own the project or if they will
just be a funding partner but thinks there will be an impact if there is any tax revenue. Mr.
Matteson said that he will send it out to board members.

Mr. Walldroff said the other thing to watch is the Big Beautiful Bill killing renewable energy.
He said there will be no more wind. He said justifying our budget for PILOTS is
questionable.

Building and Grounds Committee — Mr. Condino said the committee has not met recently
but has a couple of subjects that the board will be discussing (turn lane).

VI Unfinished Business:

1.

JCCP Turn Lane discussion — Chairman Aliasso said the board was provided with a simple
paragraph for the turning lane off the state road crossing our lane and looking for a form of
easement. He said it could be debated, or he suggested sending it to the building and grounds
committee (B&G). Mr. Weir said that as was mentioned in the email, this was going to be
coming up just for an informational piece because he was not anticipating any action in this
meeting but wanted to bring it up and send it back to B&G to not bypass the committee.

Mr. Weir said it is a project that is looking to have an easement over our property into the
project. He said the project is not in the corporate park. Mr. Capone asked Mr. Weir to send
the survey map to the board.

Chairman Aliasso said they were given a scope and there is a request, we have certain rights
and also don’t have certain rights in that we can’t grant an access way through a state road.
He said we can look at what we’d like to do and how to approach it and have a
recommendation at the next board meeting. Mr. Walldroff asked how much land mass it is.
Mr. Weir said close to a quarter of an acre.

Consideration of Executive Session — Chairman Aliasso said if the board wants to go into
executive session, he would like to move it to the end of the meeting. He asked if the board
wished to hear more about numbers and status about a couple of the subjects discussed —
MetalCraft closing to payoff the LCO Destiny loan and the discussion with Convalt’s
counsel.

2



Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency
Board Meeting Minutes
August 7, 2025

Consideration of Executive Session — continued

Mr. Warneck asked if board direction is needed for Convalt for authoriztion. Chairman
Aliasso said that he is going to wait for Harris Beach to figure out what we are actually going
to accept. Attorney Miller said for clarification, Harris Beach will be giving the board an

update and talk in conceptual terms and there will be no formal action or request for the
board.

VII. New Business:

UTEP discussion — Mr. Weir said he sent an email of Jay’s report on UTEP’s relating to
housing. He said we have over many years been discussing housing in our UTEP. He said
we have done housing projects in the past. He said one thing that the regulatory agencies
would like is that if we are going to do housing projects to have it in our UTEP. He said
personally he would like to see housing in our UTEP, and he would like the board to consider
starting that process. He said he is not asking for any definitive action right now, he just
wants the agency to be able to do housing projects and incentivize them where appropriate in
Jefferson County. He said that is his personal view but will of course execute the boards will
on that either way. He said there are a lot of things going on inside the county as well as
outside of the county that make this appropriate in his view and he looks forward to hearing
what the board thinks.

Mr. Converse provided some history on the topic. He said back when Fort Drum was
expanding there was a real need for the army for additional housing and this agency got
pressured hard in to getting involved with PILOTSs on housing. He said over his tenure at the
agency, that was the worst decision that we ever succomed to getting involved with housing
because we got beat up by the community because we are supposed to be an industrial
development agency and there’s no way we should have been in housing. He said he didn’t
disagree with the community because we were bringing in outside developers and giving
them benefits that the local community weren’t getting. He said there is nothing that this
agency could do that would give us a bigger black eye right now for getting back into
housing. Mr. Aiken asked if there is a difference from now versus back then. Chairman
Aliasso said that Micron needs housing and we could deal with it as a deviation. Mr.
Converse said everybody talks about Micron and how we are going to need all the housing
here for them. He said we may get a few hundred people that will live in Jefferson County
and drive down there. Chairman Aliasso said we don’t need 801¢ housing. Mr. Warneck
mentioned the RCI housing that is located on Fort Drum that we were involved with. Mr.
Converse said the RCI project carried this agency for a lot of years, and it was on Fort Drum
and totally different. He said the Creekside project was so controversial that the County took
us out of it. He said then we had the one next to Sam’s (Morgan) and Target (COR) that we
were pressured into. Mr. Walldroff said he supports Mr. Converse, and his comments are
exactly parallel with his. He said housing for us is pandora’s box and the exception is the
stand-alone piece on Fort Drum. He said normal housing and any other projects are
pandora’s box. He said the private developers in town (the Jake Johnson’s of the world)
would want to know where we start and stop the boundary lines. Chairman Aliasso said
that’s why we have a deviation. Mr. Walldroff said the other reason is we do not have the
money. He said looking at our budget, we might be able to incentivize two small projects.
Mr. Warneck said he agrees that financially is one thing and thinks that some of these
housing things have created the blight issue that you hear about every day in the city.

3



Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency
Board Meeting Minutes
August 7, 2025

UTEP discussion continued —

Mr. Warneck said we didn’t create affordable housing with the two projects; we created
housing based around BAH. He said he has no problem opening up the UTEP discussions
about housing, but he agrees with Chairman Aliasso because we can do housing now through
deviation and that leaves the final decision in the taxing jursidictions hands. Mr. Warneck
said that he would support housing if we are removing blight or re-utilization of a blighted
property into a housing project. He said to support a housing development that doesn’t exist
for market rate, he agrees with Mr. Converse and Mr. Walldroff, but he thinks it is time to
review our UTEP for minor issues and could have a discussion if we want to have housing
and we could get input from the communities.

Mr. Weir said there are a couple of state programs that are tied to the Micron project for
incentives. He said he does generally go along the line with how many people are actually
going to be living here and working at Micron. He said it may or may not be more significant
or less significant and we will be waiting to see that. He said there will be a large tightening
of the housing market in Syracuse and moving north which could affect us. He said there
could be an opportunity for this agency to do business.

Mr. Weir said from the UTEP perspective a lot of our surrounding communities are putting
housing in their UTEPs. Chairman Aliasso suggested sending the UTEP to the right
committee(s). Mr. Warneck said that we are supposed to review our UTEP on a periodic
basis. He said housing can go in it, but he has no intention to create a UTEP where we could
unilaterally tell a community that housing is getting a tax break. He said if we choose to do
housing then it will be a deviation and then it’s up to the local taxing jurisdictions whether or
not they want it. Mr. Walldroff said that he does agree with Mr. Weir’s concept as far as the
domino affects. He said by the time Micron builds out in five years the issue hitting us in the
face is still four to five years down the road.

Chairman Aliasso asked Ms. L’Huillier about the current housing stock. She said right now
there are quite a few, especially in the city. She said there are a lot that are $350,000 to
$500,000 but generally $250,000 is a good number for a lot of people. She mentioned that
she has had people ask her about the Globe project to see how it is progressing.

Mr. Condino said a couple of weeks ago he had a local developer approach him and asked
him if the IDA would ever consider including housing in PILOTSs because they had a project
that could advance if there was a consideration for it. He said he asked Mr. Weir what our
outlook and policy is on housing. He said that Mr. Weir sent him Mr. Matteson’s report that
other IDA’s around the state support housing with PILOTs and consider it economic
development. He said personnaly he thinks this agency needs to open their minds up a little
bit and understand that we just talked about the revenue from PILOTSs being nonexistent at
this point this year, so he is looking forward to discussion on the UTEP to see how we might
change that in the future.

Mr. Weir said it has been discussed in the past during his tenure here and there have always
been discussions around this and strong feelings and he just wanted to bring it up and talk
about it. He said that he has had someone reach out to him about it because some of the
surrounding communities are doing it (i.e. Onondaga County). Mr. Warneck pointed out that
every county in Mr. Matteson’s report that had housing was an urban area.

4



Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency
Board Meeting Minutes
August 7, 2025

VIIIL

IX.

UTEP discussion continued —

Chairman Aliasso said all the points are taken and besides Micron, potential nuclear reactors
at Fort Drum, the Missle Defense and a lot of far-fetched stuff that could happen all mean
people.

Mr. Weir said he has been working with the county and the Development Authority and
surrounding communities to be ready for the build out of our sites because part of that is
having somewhere to house people. He said he does understand all the points and thanked
the board for agreeing to having the discussion and kicking it back and working through the
process.

Counsel:

Authorizing Resolution No. 08.07.2025.01 for DG Empire Sun, LLC (f/k/a OYA
Blanchard Road LLC, OYA Blanchard Road 2 LLC, OYA Great Lakes Seaway LLC
and OYA NYS RTE 12 LLC) — Attorney Miller said the board approved four separate solar
projects in 2020 sponsored by OY A at the time and in 2021 the projects were acquired by
NextEra by and through DG Empire Sun and the IDA at that time approved that assignment
along with a collateral assignment of the IDA documents in favor of their lender. He said
there was a merger that the board approved in 2022 that changed some of their corporate
structures and since then the projects have been stable. He said the short summary is that
they are undertaking another project financing and under our IDA documents when they do a
collateral assignment in favor of their lender, they need to process that through our agency.
He said today we just have a nominal approval to allow that collateral assignment to occur.
He said in essence it is the same collateral agents, same banks and same structure that we
approved in 2021, so it is a bit of a do over that they requested the IDA’s approval for.

Mr. Converse asked if SEQR needs to be updated. Attorney Miller said no because it is just
financing behind the scenes and nothing being done with the project itself (no expansions, no
new approvals, and no new leases). He said it is just a financing mechanism; they are
securing or rearranging some of their existing debt.

Chairman Aliasso read the purpose of the resolution. A motion was made by Mr. Warneck to
approve the resolution, seconded by Ms. L’Huillier. Roll call vote. Mr. Aliasso — Yea, Mr.
Converse — Yea, Mr. Condino — Yea, Mr. Johnson — Yea, Ms. L’Huillier — Yea, Mr.
Walldroff — Yea, and Mr. Warneck — Yea. Carried.

Executive Session — Chairman Aliasso asked if the board had an appetite for executive
session or just wait for the update. It was a concensus to wait for the written update.

Adjournment: With no further business before the board, a motion to adjourn was made by Ms.
L’Huillier, seconded by Mr. Johnson. All in favor. The meeting was adjourned at 9:11 a.m.

Respectfully submitted,
P
Feggy Dampoon



AUTHORIZING RESOLUTION
DG Empire Sun, LLC Projects (f7k/a OYA Blanchard Road LLC),
with OYA Blanchard Road 2 LLC, OYA Great Lakes Seaway LLC, and OYA NYS RTE 12 LLC

A regular meeting of the Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency was convened
on Thursday, August 7, 2025 at 8:30 a.m.

The following resolution was duly offered and seconded, to wit:
Resolution No. 08.07.2025.01

RESOLUTION OF THE JEFFERSON COUNTY INDUSTRIAL
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (THE “AGENCY”) (i) APPROVING THE
COLLATERAL ASSIGNMENT OF CERTAIN PROJECT DOCUMENTS
ENTERED INTO BY THE AGENCY FOR THE BEENFIT OF SUCCESSOR
OWNER DG EMPIRE SUN, LLC (THE “COLLATERAL ASSIGNMENTS”,
AS MORE FULLY DESCRIBED BELOW) IN CONNECTION WITH
CERTAIN PROJECTS PREVIOUSLY UNDERTAKEN BY THE AGENCY;
AND (ii) AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF
DOCUMENTS RELATING TO SAME.

WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of
New York, as amended, and Chapter 369 of the Laws of 1971 of the State of New York, (the
“Act”), the JEFFERSON COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (the
“Agency”) was created with the authority and power to promote, develop, encourage and assist
in acquiring, constructing, reconstructing, improving, maintaining, equipping and furnishing
industrial, manufacturing, warehousing, commercial, research, and recreational facilities as
authorized by the Act, and in connection therewith to issue its revenue bonds, and/or enter into
straight lease transactions and provide other forms of financial assistance; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to resolutions adopted by the Agency on December 2, 2021 (the
“Prior Resolutions™), the Agency previously authorized certain matters with respect to four (4)
projects (herein, the “Projects”) previously undertaken by the Agency for the benefit of OYA
Blanchard Road, LLC (now DG Empire Sun, LLC, and herein, the “Company”), along with
OYA Blanchard Road 2 LLC, OYA Great Lakes Seaway LLC, and OYA NYS RTE 12 LLC
(collectively, the “Project Affiliates™), such Projects being memorialized within certain straight
lease agreements (the “Project Documents”); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Prior Resolutions, the Agency authorized a certain
restructuring (the “Restructuring™) whereby the Project Affiliates are currently wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company, and pursuant to an additional resolution adopted by the Agency on
June 2, 2022, the Agency approved the merger of the Project Affiliates into the Company, with
the Company surviving, whereby the Company will own all assets of all 4 of the Projects (the
“2022 Merger™); and

Page ]



WHEREAS, in connection with a proposed financing of the Company’s various projects,
the Company, among others, will become parties to a secured financing (the “Financing™) with
certain defined lenders and KeyBank National Association, as Collateral Agent for the benefit of
such secured lenders (the “Collateral Agent™”), which involves the proposed collateral assignment
of the Projects, and other related facilities, as collateral security for such Financing pursuant to a
certain Security Agreement to be entered into by the Company in favor of the Collateral Agent
(the “Security Agreement™); and

WHEREAS, the Financing requires Agency written consent to permit the Security
Agreement to become a “Permitted Encumbrance”, as defined within the Project Documents, and
the Company and Collateral Agent have further requested the Agency’s approval for a present
assignment of the Project Documents as collateral security for the Financing (the “Collateral
Assignment”); and

WHEREAS, the Agency desires to authorize (i) the Security Agreement to become a
Permitted Encumbrance on the Projects pursuant the Project Documents; and (ii) the conditioned
Collateral Assignment of the Project Documents in favor of the Collateral Agent, all pursuant to
the terms and conditions of this resolution and a certain Consent Agreement to be executed by
the Agency and Company (herein, the “Consent Agreement™).

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE JEFFERSON
COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. The Agency hereby authorizes the Collateral Assignment as requested by the
Company.

Section 2. Subject to (i) the Company’s payment of all costs and fees of the Agency
associated with reviewing, approving and consenting to the transactions described herein, and (ii)
the Company executing requisite merger documents, the Chairman, Vice Chairman, and/or Chief
Executive Officer of the Agency are hereby authorized, on behalf of the Agency, to execute and
deliver any documents required to evidence the Agency’s consent to the Merger necessary to
effectuate the foregoing in forms thereof approved by the Chairman, Vice Chairman, and/or
Chief Executive Officer and counsel to the Agency with such changes (including without
limitation any change in the dated date of such documents), variations, omissions and insertions
as the Chairman, Vice Chairman, and/or Chief Executive Officer shall approve. The execution of
the foregoing documents by the Chairman, Vice Chairman, and/or Chief Executive Officer of the
Agency shall constitute conclusive evidence of such approval.

Section 3. The officers, employees and agents of the Agency are hereby authorized
and directed for and in the name and on behalf of the Agency to do all acts and things required
and to execute and deliver all such certificates, instruments and documents, to pay all such fees,
charges and expenses and to do all such further acts and things as may be necessary or, in the
opinion of the officer, employee or agent acting, desirable and proper to effect the purposes of
the foregoing resolutions and to cause compliance by the Agency with all of the terms, covenants
and provisions of the documents executed for and on behalf of the Agency.

Page 2



Section 4. These Resolutions shall take effect immediately upon adoption.

The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolutions was duly put to vote on roll
call, which resulted as follows:

2

Nay Absent Abstain

Robert E. Aliasso, Jr.
David J. Converse
John J. Condino
William W. Johnson
Lisa L'Huillier

W. Edward Walldroff
Paul J. Warneck

| [ | [ 2 |

The resolutions were thereupon duly adopted.

Page 3



STATE OF NEW YORK )
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON ) ss:

I, the undersigned Secretary of the Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency, DO
HEREBY CERTIFY:

That I have compared the foregoing extract of the minutes of the meeting of the Wayne
County Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”) including the resolution contained
therein, held on August 7, 2025, with the original thereof on file in my office, and that the same
is a true and correct copy of the proceedings of the Agency and of such resolution set forth
therein and of the whole of said original insofar as the same relates to the subject matters therein
referred to.

[ FURTHER CERTIFY that all members of said Agency had due notice of said meeting,
that the meeting was in all respects duly held and that, pursuant to Article 7 of the Public
Officers Law (Open Meetings Law), said meeting was open to the general public, and that public
notice of the time and place of said meeting was duly given in accordance with Article 7.

I FURTHER CERTIFY that there was a quorum of the members of the Agency present
throughout said meeting,.

I FURTHER CERTIFY that as of the date hereof, the attached resolution is in full force
and effect and has not been amended, repealed or modified.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal of said Agency this 1#\

day of __Puguet _,2025. ‘,ll ‘

[SEAL]

Page 4



